RECEIVED

Apr 05 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas

George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000249

Government Employees Insurance Company,.....Respondent,

v.

Barbara P. Jackson, as Personal Representative
for the Estate of Vincent A. Jackson,.....Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT BARBARA P. JACKSON, AS PERSONAL
REPRESENTATIVE FOR THE ESTATE OF VINCENT A. JACKSON**

Calvin K. Hastie, Sr.
HASTIE LAW FIRM
7 East Hampton Avenue
Sumter, SC 29150
(803) 774-7776

Mitchell Willoughby
Elizabeth Zeck
**WILLOUGHBY &
HOEFER, P.A.**
930 Richland Street

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in refusing to allow expert testimony from Dr. Ronald Pitner, Associate Dean of the School of Social Work at the University of South Carolina, with regard to developmental stages that would have assisted the jury in understanding the behavior of the decedent, Vincent Jackson, on the central question in this case: whether Vincent Jackson was a resident of his parents' home and thereby entitled to "stack" underinsured motorist coverage from his parents' policies?
2. Did the trial court err in refusing to give instructions that correctly state the law by emphasizing the fact-based nature of the residency inquiry and that any doubts should be resolved in favor of insurance coverage?
3. Did the trial court err by improperly admitting into evidence federal employment records that were cumulative on the question of residency and unduly prejudicial because they incorrectly suggest that any statement as to Vincent Jackson's address were made under oath?
4. Did the trial court err by improperly excluding from evidence the insurance policy which was central to this dispute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Government Employees Insurance Company ("GEICO") initiated this declaratory judgment action on August 12, 2016, by filing a Complaint against Respondent Barbara P. Jackson, as Personal Representative for the Estate of Vincent A. Jackson ("Jackson Estate"). (**R. pp. 20-52**). GEICO sought a declaration that Vincent Jackson, who tragically died in a car wreck while driving a vehicle insured by GEICO, did not reside with his parents, the named insureds, at the time of his death, and thus the Jackson Estate could not stack underinsured motorist coverage his parents purchased for other vehicles through GEICO. (**R. pp. 20-52**). The Jackson Estate timely responded, filing an answer and a motion to dismiss, seeking to have the question of residency decided in previously-filed tort actions against the City of Bishopville and the Bishopville Police Department (Civil Action Nos. 2014-CP-43-02399 and 2014-CP-43-02400 ("Tort Actions")), of which GEICO had assumed the defense following the Jackson Estate's

settlement with the original tortfeasors. **(R. pp. 53-104)**.¹ This motion was denied by Order dated June 21, 2017. **(R. pp. 5-8)**.

Prior to trial, GEICO filed a motion *in limine* seeking to preclude expert testimony from the Jackson Estate's expert, Professor Ronald Pitner ("Dr. Pitner") **(R. p. 105)**, to which the Jackson Estate filed an Opposition **(R. pp. 214-225)**. The Jackson Estate also filed a motion *in limine* seeking to exclude certain federal employment records. **(R. pp. 204-213)**. These motions were heard on May 28, 2019, prior to the beginning of trial. **(R. pp. 347-403)**. The parties also offered arguments about the admissibility of the insurance contract from which this dispute arose. **(R. pp. 396-398, 408, 964-965, 226-269)**. By written order, the trial court denied each of the Jackson Estate's motions and granted GEICO's motion, stating that he did not see that Dr. Pitner's testimony "is needed by the jury." **(R. pp. 16-17)**. On May 29, 2019, the Jackson Estate made a proffer of Dr. Pitner's testimony. **(R. pp. 581-637)**. The trial judge renewed his order excluding Dr. Pitner's testimony. **(R. p. 637)**.

The jury returned a verdict finding that the decedent Vincent A. Jackson was not a resident of the home of his parents, GEICO's insureds. **(R. pp. 789, 13-15)**.

The Jackson Estate timely moved for JNOV or, in the alternative, for a new trial. **(R. pp. 270-276)**. A hearing on the post-trial motions was held on December 9, 2019, and the trial court denied the Jackson Estate's motions from the bench. **(R. pp. 792-811)**. Thereafter, GEICO submitted a proposed order, **(R. pp. 328-330)**, and on January 17, 2020, the trial court entered its written order, **(R. p. 9-12)**. The Jackson Estate then timely filed this appeal. **(R. pp. 331-346)**.

¹ Although GEICO filed this action and was therefore technically styled as "plaintiff," under South Carolina insurance law, the Jackson Estate, although nominally the "defendant," bore the burden of proof as the insured party seeking to establish coverage. **(R. p. 415)**. Therefore, to minimize confusion, this brief will refer to the parties by name rather than as plaintiff and defendant.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of a January 17, 2014 fatal automobile wreck in Sumter County. Officer Roniea Conyers was the on-call investigator for the Bishopville Police Department. **(R. pp. 58-59)**. Due to her failure to actually monitor her calls, she was responding nearly an hour late to a routine, non-emergency call for service. **(R. p. 59)**. Because she was running late, Officer Conyers' patrol vehicle was traveling at 80 miles per hour when she rounded a sharp blind curve and struck the automobile driven by Vincent Jackson, who was attempting to execute a left-hand turn onto the roadway. **(R. p. 59)**. Tragically, as a result of the force of the impact, Vincent Jackson received traumatic and fatal injuries and died. **(R. p. 59)**.

At the time of the collision, Vincent was operating a 2002 Suzuki automobile insured by GEICO under Policy No. 4007-84-2307 ("the Policy"). **(R. p. 59)**. The named insureds on the Policy were Vincent's parents, Therel Jackson and Barbara Jackson. **(R. p. 59)**. The Policy covered the 2002 Suzuki that Vincent was driving with underinsured motorist ("UIM") coverage in the amount of \$100,000.00 per person. **(R. p. 70)**. Four other vehicles were listed under the Policy each with an additional \$100,000.00 per person in "stacked" UIM coverage for a total of \$500,000.00 in potential UIM coverage. **(R. p. 70)**.

On November 7, 2014, wrongful death and survival actions were filed against the City of Bishopville and the Bishopville Police Department ("Bishopville Defendants") for the benefit of Vincent Jackson's young child, sole heir, and sole beneficiary, Jayden A. Jackson, who was born with various birth defects and disabilities, requiring multiple corrective medical procedures and continuing treatment. **(R. p. 59)**. GEICO was served with process and became a party to the Tort Actions by entering its Notice of Appearance. The Bishopville Defendants agreed to pay the Jackson Estate the \$300,000.00 statutory limit under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act limit for the wrongful death action and \$50,000 for the survival action. This settlement, which included a

covenant not to execute, was approved by the court in the Tort Actions on March 31, 2016, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-51-41, expressly reserving the Jackson Estate's right to pursue UIM coverage from GEICO. Following the settlement with the tortfeasor, GEICO, as the UIM carrier, stepped into the shoes of Bishopville and assumed the defense in the Tort Actions. **(R. pp. 6-7).**

On August 12, 2016, while the UIM benefits for the wrongful death and survival actions were still being actively litigated with GEICO, the insurer filed this separate declaratory judgment action, seeking a determination that it was not obligated to pay "stacked" UIM coverage benefits on the other insured vehicles not involved in the collision. **(R. pp. 20-52).** GEICO and the Jackson Estate entered into a stipulation by which GEICO agreed to pay within forty-five (45) days UIM coverage of the \$100,000 policy limit on the 2002 Suzuki while reserving the right to litigate the issue of Mr. Jackson's residency at the time of his death. **(R. pp. 76-80).** The parties agreed that if Mr. Jackson was a resident relative of the named insureds, his parents, Theryl Jackson and Barbara Jackson, at 9 Brown Street in Sumter, South Carolina at the time of the collision, then GEICO would be obligated to pay an additional \$400,000, representing the aggregate "stacked" policy limits of UIM coverage under the Jacksons' policy with GEICO. **(R. pp. 78-79).** This stipulation was approved by the court in the Tort Actions on October 31, 2016, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-51-41. **(R. pp. 69-74).**

Vincent Jackson was the son of GEICO's named insureds, Barbara and Theryl Jackson. **(R. p. 422).** The family has lived at 9 Brown Street in Sumter, South Carolina since 2001, when Vincent was 11 years old. Vincent spent his teenage years growing up and residing at that address. **(R. pp. 423, 482-483).** He graduated from Sumter High School in 2008 and following the advice of his father, attended the Sumter County Career Center, where he obtained a welding certificate.

Upon his graduation from this program, his father assisted him in obtaining work as a construction welder. Due to the intermittent nature of this work, he worked for several different employers and was assigned to various construction sites. **(R. pp. 423, 484)**. This work frequently took Vincent out of town for weeks at a time during which time he traveled with his father. But Vincent always returned to his family home on Brown Street, where he kept his clothes and work tools. **(R. pp. 424-425, 485, 487-488)**.

Vincent began a relationship with Jessica Wilson, whom he had originally met in high school. **(R. pp. 425, 543-544)**. Jessica resided at home with her mom and sisters, and Vincent continued to reside at home with his parents and younger brother. Both families were deeply religious and active in the Black Baptist Church and thus did not allow the young couple to spend overnights at their respective homes. **(R. pp. 425, 443, 547, 648, 654)**. In late 2011, Vincent was offered the opportunity to use the unoccupied home of a paternal aunt in exchange for looking after the property. That property was located on Center Street in Sumter. Vincent and Jessica spent occasional time together at the Center Street property but continued to live and reside with their respective parents. **(R. pp. 425-426, 428, 487, 546)**.

During this time period, Vincent had discussed with his father, Therel Jackson, the benefit of Vincent establishing a credit history in his own name. They believed that this process would be aided if Vincent established an address separate from the family home on Brown Street. **(R. pp. 430, 486, 496)**. A separate address would also qualify Vincent for per diem compensation on some construction jobs. **(R. pp. 491, 521-522)**. On January 30, 2012, although he continued to live at home with his parents, Vincent changed his address with the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles to the Center Street property owned by his aunt.

Jessica became pregnant. **(R. pp. 427)**. She was placed on bedrest during her pregnancy and spent that time at her family home, which was located on Dollard Street in Sumter. **(R. pp. 547-550, 646)**. Vincent continued to live at Brown Street with his parents. **(R. p. 497)**. On June 11, 2012 their son Jayden A. Jackson was born at 33 weeks' gestation. **(R. p. 550)**. He spent about a month in the hospital's neonatal care unit after his birth. **(R. pp. 430, 552)**.

While Jessica was pregnant, the Center Street property was burglarized. **(R. p. 430)**. Consequently, she did not feel safe meeting there anymore, particularly after their son was born prematurely with severe disabilities. **(R. p. 550)**. Therefore, while baby Jayden was still hospitalized, Jessica and Vincent looked into finding a safer meeting place. On June 21, 2012, they applied to rent an apartment located on Rast Street. **(R. p. 455)**. The vehicle listed on the Rast Street rental application was a Ford Explorer owned by his parents and insured by GEICO. **(R. pp. 501, 993-999)**. Nor did the Rast Street application form list Center Street as Vincent's address, even though that address was on his driver's license; instead, it listed the Brown Street address he shared with his parents. **(R. pp. 576-577, 993-999)**. Although the lease was effective in July 2012, Vincent did not change his address with the SC DMV until December 2012. **(R. p. 574)**.

Jayden's disabilities, which required more care than Jessica and Vincent could provide on their own, prevented the Rast Street apartment from being a family setting. **(R. pp. 552-553, 556, 564, 577, 647, 658)**. The Rast Street apartment was sparsely furnished with used items from both families. **(R. pp. 431, 508)**. Jessica and Vincent kept only a few items of clothing there and essentially no cooking equipment, as they usually brought food from their respective family homes or take-out from restaurants. **(R. p. 574)**. When Vincent and Jessica met at Rast Street to spend time together and with Jayden, they brought groceries just for that time. **(R. pp. 449, 559)**. Neither would stay at Rast Street alone. **(R. pp. 454, 555)**. For example, in 2013, within a month of his

death, Vincent spent Christmas Eve at the family home on Brown Street and Jessica brought Jayden there to open presents. **(R. pp. 436, 504-505, 556, 651)**.

While Vincent understood he could claim head of household status for himself and Jayden if he referenced the Rast Street address, **(R. pp. 492-493)**, Brown Street continued to be Vincent's residence. When Vincent returned to Sumter from out-of-town jobs, Vincent returned not to the Rast Street apartment but to his family home at Brown Street, where he would shower and have his mother wash his laundry. **(R. p. 499)**. Similarly, unless they arranged to meet Vincent at the apartment, Jessica and Jayden would stay at her mother's home on Dollard Drive. **(R. p. 433)**. When he was not away from Sumter working, he spent most of his time at the family home on Brown Street, spending only 2-3 nights per week at Rast Street. **(R. pp. 449, 499-500, 648)**. Due to the sporadic nature of Vincent's work, he did not always have enough money to pay the rent. When he was between jobs, his mother would cover the Rast Street rent payments. **(R. pp. 453, 466)**. He discussed his need for financial help with his parents and selected a family car to drive usually based upon the one with the most gas in the tank.² Vincent continued to receive mail at Brown Street. **(R. pp. 508, 1013-1014)**. His phone was on his family's cell plan, and his parents required that he pay the Brown Street water bill, and for internet service at that location. **(R. pp. 432, 488-489)**. Vincent did not maintain internet service at Rast Street. **(R. pp. 433, 575)**.

On January 4, 2014, shortly before his death, Jessica and Vincent had a vocal disagreement. A neighbor called the police to the Rast Street apartment, complaining about the noise. After they arrived, Vincent, who was angry, was placed under arrest, and charged with disorderly conduct.

² Although he purchased and insured his own vehicle in 2013, a 2001 Oldsmobile Aurora, that car was rarely operational despite substantial repairs paid for by Vincent's father. **(R. p. 503)**. Vincent stored the inoperable vehicle at the family home on Brown Street and drove one of his family's other cars with his parents' permission. **(R. pp. 434-435, 485-486, 497-498, 501-502)**.

(R. p. 557). He was briefly detained in the Sumter-Lee Detention Center before being bonded out by Jessica. **(R. p. 558)**. The following week, on January 8, 2014, Vincent applied for another job with Roper Personnel Services. He completed numerous forms using the address listed on his driver's license. **(R. pp. 459-461, 970-971)**.

Vincent spent Friday, January 17, 2014, at his family home on Brown Street. He ate a dinner prepared by his mother and, as normal and with his parents' standing permission, selected one of the family's vehicles to meet up with some friends. **(R. pp. 437, 505)**. Later, his younger brother, Tyrell, needed a larger vehicle; so, Vincent met him and traded cars, leaving Vincent with the smaller Suzuki. Later that night, Vincent left his friend's home, offering a lift to another friend. After he dropped off that friend, at about 10:30 pm, Vincent's car was struck by a City of Bishopville police cruiser traveling at a high rate of speed on the way to a non-emergency call without sirens or flashing lights. Due to the violence of that collision, Vincent sustained traumatic injuries and died at the scene. **(R. p. 69)**.

Vincent's mother, Barbara, brought the Tort Actions on behalf of Vincent's estate, the sole beneficiary of which is Vincent's disabled son Jayden. **(R. pp. 5-8)**. While the Tort Actions were pending, GEICO brought this declaratory judgment action to limit the Jackson Estate's recovery arguing that he was not a resident of his parents' home and therefore not entitled to stack UIM coverage from their other vehicles. **(R. pp. 20-52)**. Ultimately, this matter proceeded to a jury trial on the sole question of residency. As explained in detail below, the trial court excluded expert testimony offered by the Jackson Estate that would have assisted the jury in understanding developmental stages and the psychology of Vincent's renting the Rast Street property while remaining dependent on his parents for support. *See infra* pp. 11-17. The court also refused to instruct the jury on the complete law regarding residency and construction of insurance

agreements. *See infra* pp. 18-20. Finally, the court allowed GEICO to introduce and use merely cumulative federal employment documents listing Rast Street as Vincent’s address, but incorrectly suggested that this statement was made under penalty of perjury (*see infra* pp. 20-25), while excluding from evidence any reference to the insurance policy which was central to this dispute, including the very policy language that the jury was asked to consider (*see infra* pp. 25-26). The jury thereafter found Vincent was not a resident of his parents’ home. **(R. p. 13).**

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court’s decisions regarding the admission of expert testimony, the admission or exclusion of evidence over a “more prejudicial than probative” objection based on Rule 403, SCRE, and jury instructions are each reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Lee v. Bunch*, 373 S.C. 654, 658, 647 S.E.2d 197, 199 (2007) (Rule 403); *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) (jury instructions); *Ray v. City of Rock Hill*, 428 S.C. 358, 369, 834 S.E.2d 464, 470 (Ct. App. 2019) (expert testimony). An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or the trial court’s factual conclusions lack factual support. *Clark*, 339 S.C. at 389, 529 S.E.2d at 539; *Ray*, 428 S.C. at 369, 834 S.E.2d at 470. With respect to the exclusion of expert testimony, reversal on appeal is warranted if the jury was not presented with any other testimony equivalent to that of the wrongly excluded expert. *Means v. Gates*, 348 S.C. 161, 171, 588 S.E.2d 921, 926 (Ct. App. 2001).

The denial of a motion for a new trial is within the trial judge’s discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Haselden v. Davis*, 341 S.C. 486, 495, 534 S.E.2d 295, 300 (Ct. App. 2000), *aff’d*, 353 S.C. 481, 579 S.E.2d 293 (2003).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in refusing to allow Dr. Pitner's expert testimony that would have assisted the jury in understanding the psychology underlying Vincent Jackson's behavior and whether he was a resident of his parents' home.

The Jackson Estate proffered a highly qualified expert, Dr. Ronald Pitner, to testify concerning aspects of human development that would have assisted the jury in understanding alleged inconsistencies in Vincent's behavior and determining his true intent as to residency. The trial court refused to allow this expert to testify because it held that his testimony would not assist the jury and that the issue of residency was solely within the knowledge and experience of the jury. **(R. p. 639)**. This was error as South Carolina courts have allowed human behavior experts to explain aspects of witness' actions that seem contrary to ordinary experience. The error was prejudicial because there was no other expert testimony on this point.

A. Standard for admissibility of expert testimony.

Rule 702, SCRE, states, "If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." In determining whether to admit expert testimony, the trial court must make three inquiries: (1) whether the evidence will assist the trier of fact; (2) whether the expert has acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in that particular subject matter; and (3) whether the substance of the testimony is reliable. *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999). "Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert's specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge." *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010).

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