**RECEIVED**

**Mar 24 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000249

---

Government Employees Insurance Company,.....Respondent,

v.

Barbara P. Jackson, as Personal Representative  
For the Estate of Vincent A. Jackson,.....Appellant.

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

J.R. Murphy, Esquire  
S.C. Bar No. 7941  
Megan Walker, Esquire  
S.C. Bar No. 103069  
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.  
P.O. Box 6648  
Columbia, SC 29260  
(803) 782-4100  
jrmurphy@murphygrantland.com  
Attorneys for Respondent

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

*Breazell*, 324 S.C. at 231, 478 S.E.2d at 832; *Horne*, 356 S.C. at 60, 586 S.E.2d at 870 (recognizing that after *Buddin* the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Breazell* “adopted a three-factor test for

making this [residency] determination”). In *Smith v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co.*, this Court distinguished the former residency test under *Buddin* from the current residency test in *Breazell*:

[T]he circuit court applied the *Buddin* standard of “one, other than a temporary or transient visitor, who lives together with others in the same house for a period of some duration, although he may not intend to remain there permanently.” 250 S.C. at 339, 157 S.E.2d at 636. We note that *in 1996, our supreme court adopted a similar but somewhat more stringent approach to determining residency. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Breazell*, 324 S.C. 228, 478 S.E.2d 831 (1996).

377 S.C. at 517, 660 S.E.2d at 273 (emphasis added); *see also State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Sproull*, 329 F. Supp. 3d 238, 244 (D.S.C. 2018) (“The relevant test for determining whether James was a resident of the LaDonna and Robert Campbell household under South Carolina law is set forth in *State Farm Fire & Casualty Company v. Breazell*, 324 S.C. 228, 478 S.E.2d 831 (1996).”). Therefore, the Circuit Court did not err by charging the jury with the South Carolina Supreme Court’s current residency test and denying Appellant’s request to include language from its former residency test.

However, even if the *Buddin* test was still applicable, Appellant’s argument for why the *Buddin* language had to be included is without merit. Appellant argues that the *Buddin* language had to be included to instruct the jury “on the fact-based nature of the residency inquiry.” (Appellant’s Br., pp. 18-20). According to Appellant’s argument, only the *Buddin* instruction would so inform the jury and without it the jury would think that residency “is a cut-and-dried inquiry instead of an intensely fact-based one.” (Appellant’s Br., pp. 19-20). However, the *Breazell* instruction given by the court puts the jury on notice that residency is a fact-based inquiry and instructs the jury on which facts to focus their inquiry. *See Varnadore v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 289 S.C. 155, 345 S.E.2d 711 (1986) (holding refusal of a request to charge is not error when the substance of the request is included in the general instructions). Consequently, Appellant’s argument for the inclusion of additional language from *Buddin* is without merit, and the Circuit

Court did not err by refusing the same. *See Davis v. Tripp*, 338 S.C. 226, 237, 525 S.E.2d 528, 534 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding the trial court did not err in refusing to give the requested instruction and stating: “We have examined the court’s charge to the jury and conclude that, when viewed in its entirety, it fairly and sufficiently sets forth the applicable law in this case.”). The Appellant cannot show prejudice where the jury charge as a whole informed the jury of the fact-based nature of the inquiry. *See State v. Zeigler*, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.”); *Ardis*, 383 S.C. at 528, 682 S.E.2d at 251 (finding no prejudice “when the challenged jury charge is viewed in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial”).

**B. The Circuit Court properly refused to include Appellant’s requested “construe against the drafter” jury instruction.**

Appellant also alleges she is entitled to a new trial because the Circuit Court refused to include a “construe against the drafter” jury instruction. (Appellant’s Br. p. 20). The Circuit Court properly refused to include such an instruction. There are several reasons Appellant’s request for such an instruction was properly denied. First, inclusion of a “construe against the drafter” jury instruction would have been improper in this case because the jury was not interpreting any contract language. The sole question for the jury was whether Vincent Jackson was a resident of his parents’ house at the time of his death. *See* (Appellant’s Br. p. 18 (“[T]he only question is residency.”)); (Answer, R. p. 53 (stating that the “sole remaining issue in dispute” is “Vincent A. Jackson’s residency at the time of his death.”)); (Def.’s Mot. to Dismiss, R. p. 85 ¶ 16 (“...the sole remaining issue of Mr. Jackson’s residency at the time of the Collision.”)). This question involves no contract interpretation.

Second, even if this case had involved contract interpretation (which it did not), contract interpretation would have been a matter for the court and not the jury. “[T]he interpretation of an

unambiguous contract is a question of law” for the court, not the jury. *Bennett & Bennett Const., Inc. v. Auto Owners Ins. Co.*, 405 S.C. 1, 4, 747 S.E.2d 426, 427 (2013). Only in the case of certain ambiguities would policy interpretation be a question for the jury. *See Beaufort Cty. Sch. Dist. v. United Nat. Ins. Co.*, 392 S.C. 506, 526, 709 S.E.2d 85, 95–96 (Ct. App. 2011) (“Interpretation of an unambiguous policy, or a policy with a patent ambiguity is for the court. Interpretation of a policy with a latent ambiguity is for the jury.” (citations omitted)); *Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Benjamin*, 415 S.C. 137, 144, 781 S.E.2d 137, 141 (Ct. App. 2015) (same). Appellant did not argue there was an ambiguity in the policy terms, and the Circuit Court did not determine that the policy language was ambiguous. ““It is a question of law for the court whether the language of a contract is ambiguous.”” *Canal Ins. Co. v. Nat'l House Movers, LLC*, 414 S.C. 255, 260, 777 S.E.2d 418, 421 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *South Carolina Dep't of Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 623, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302–03 (2001)); *Preservation Capital Consultants, LLC v. First Am. Title Ins. Co.*, 406 S.C. 309, 316, 751 S.E.2d 256, 259 (2013) (same); *Whitlock v. Stewart Title Guar. Co.*, 399 S.C. 610, 615, 732 S.E.2d 626, 628 (2012) (same). Consequently, as a matter of law, policy interpretation was not a question for the jury in this case.<sup>4</sup>

Moreover, policy terms are only construed against the drafter in the case of ambiguity, and the Circuit Court did not determine there was any ambiguity in the policy language. As this Court has repeatedly explained:

Ambiguous terms in an insurance policy must be construed liberally in favor of the insured and strictly against the insurer. *Diamond State Ins. Co. v. Homestead Indus., Inc.*, 318 S.C. 231, 236, 456 S.E.2d 912, 915 (1995). “However, in cases where there is no ambiguity, contracts of insurance, like other contracts, must be construed according to the terms which the parties have used, to be taken and understood in their plain, ordinary and popular sense.” *Garrett v. Pilot Life Ins. Co.*, 241 S.C. 299, 304, 128 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1962).

---

<sup>4</sup> At a March 30, 2017 hearing prior to the trial, Appellant argued that the issue of residency should be decided by a jury, and the Circuit Court agreed. (June 21, 2017 Order, R. p. 7)

*Stringer v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 386 S.C. 188, 192, 687 S.E.2d 58, 60 (Ct. App. 2009); *Precision Walls, Inc. v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 410 S.C. 175, 183, 763 S.E.2d 598, 602 (Ct. App. 2014) (same); *see also USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 655, 661 S.E.2d 791, 797 (2008) (same). Again, Appellant did not argue there was an ambiguity in the policy language, and the Circuit Court did not determine that the policy language was ambiguous. Therefore, Appellant's requested "construe against the drafter" jury instruction would have been improper for several reasons, and the Circuit Court properly refused to include such a jury instruction.

**III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING VINCENT JACKSON'S EMPLOYMENT RECORDS, AND EVEN IF NOT PROPERLY ADMITTED, APPELLANT CAN SHOW NO PREJUDICE DUE TO THE CUMULATIVE NATURE OF THIS EVIDENCE.**

Appellant alleges she is entitled to a new trial because the Circuit Court admitted certain employment records Vincent Jackson completed only days prior to his death. (Appellant's Br. p. 21). Again, the sole question in this case was whether Vincent Jackson was a resident of his parents' house at the time of his death on January 17, 2014. With respect to this question, the employment records Vincent Jackson completed by hand three (3) days prior to his death, listing his address as the 251 Rast Street apartment, are highly probative. *See* Rule 402, SCRE; *Judy v. Judy*, 384 S.C. 634, 641, 682 S.E.2d 836, 839 (Ct. App. 2009) ("Evidence meets the test of relevance if it tends to establish or to make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears."). Appellant objected to the admission of this evidence pursuant to Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. However, Appellant failed to show that the statements in these records create "unfair prejudice," much less "unfair prejudice" that

substantially outweighs their probative value. Consequently, the Circuit Court properly admitted these employment records.

Appellant specifically challenges the admission of the following employment records: (1) Vincent Jackson's W-4 form; and (2) Vincent Jackson's federal I-9 employment eligibility verification form. (Appellant's Br. p. 21). Vincent Jackson completed and signed the W-4 form three (3) days before his death. (Jackson W-4 form, R. p. 992 (dated January 14, 2014)). On the form, he listed his Rast Street apartment as his "home address." (R. p. 992). The W-4 form stated: "Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this certificate and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is true, correct, and complete." (R. p. 992). Therefore, this form is highly probative of the sole question at issue in this case – whether Vincent Jackson was a resident of his parents' house on the date of his death three days later. Several things make it probative: (1) the timing of the Vincent Jackson's execution of the form three days before his death; (2) that Vincent Jackson signed and completed it himself; and (3) that the language on the form incentivized the signer to provide truthful information.

Vincent Jackson also completed and signed the I-9 form three (3) days before his death. (Jackson I-9 form, R. p. 984 (dated January 14, 2014)). He listed his Rast Street apartment as his address on this form. (R. p. 984). The I-9 form contained the following statement: "I am aware that federal law provides for imprisonment and/or fines for false statements or use of false documents in connection with the completion of this form." (R. p. 984). Likewise, this form is highly probative of the sole question at issue in this case – whether Vincent Jackson was a resident of his parents' house on the date of his death three days later – for the same reasons.

Under Rule 403, relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice...." Rule 403, SCRE. "A trial court has particularly

wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections.” *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 608, 759 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012)). “A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013)); *see also State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003) (“We ... are obligated to give great deference to the trial court’s judgment [regarding Rule 403].” (internal citation omitted)).

In exercising its discretion on a Rule 403 objection to the admissibility of the employment forms, the trial court must balance the alleged unfair prejudice of the employment forms against their probative value. *See Gray*, 408 S.C. at 608–09, 759 S.E.2d at 164. However, as this Court has explained, not all prejudice is “unfair prejudice”:

Prejudice that is “unfair” is distinguished from the legitimate impact all evidence has on the outcome of a case. “Unfair prejudice” does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest a decision on an improper basis. All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be scrutinized under Rule 403.

*State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. at 529, 732 S.E.2d at 229 (citations omitted); *see also State v. Stokes*, 381 S.C. 390, 404, 673 S.E.2d 434, 441 (2009) (“Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis.” (quoting *State v. Dickerson*, 341 S.C. 391, 400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000))).

Appellant alleges that these documents’ probative value is “substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice” because of the penalty of perjury language contained in the documents. (Appellant’s Br. p. 22 (“[T]hey created an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, namely that residency should be determined by the documents Vincent had signed under penalty of perjury listing the Rast Street address.”)). “Rule 403 only requires suppression of

evidence that results in unfair prejudice—prejudice that damages an opponent for reasons other than its probative value...” *Gray*, 408 S.C. at 616, 759 S.E.2d at 168 (citation omitted). While this perjury language may be prejudicial to Appellant’s case, it creates no “unfair prejudice.” The I-9 form itself states that federal law provides for imprisonment and/or fines for false statements in connection with completion of the form. (R. p. 984). Nowhere does the form limit this language to any particular statement on the form. *See* (Jackson I-9 form, R. p. 984). The W-4 form states that “under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this certificate and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is true, correct, and complete.” (R. p. 992). This form also does not limit this statement to any particular information provided on the form. *See* (Jackson W-4 form, R. p. 992). Nowhere do the forms state that the federal government will only prosecute the signer for providing certain types of false information on these forms.

In addition to the other probative value of these documents (timing and completion by Jackson), these perjury statements add further probative value. They may have incentivized Vincent Jackson to provide truthful information about his address on these forms. Appellant argues that there is “unfair prejudice” from these statements on the forms because the government would not have prosecuted Jackson for providing a false address. (Appellant’s Br. p. 22-24). Appellant’s argument lacks a required logical step. Appellant has failed to show that Vincent Jackson knew the government would not prosecute him for providing a false address at the time he completed these forms. Without this step, Appellant’s argument has no bearing on whether Vincent Jackson was incentivized to provide truthful information about his address on these forms – i.e. one of the legitimate probative forces of these documents.

In addition, Appellant has failed to show that this alleged “unfair prejudice” from these perjury statements substantially outweighs the probative value of these documents. These

documents were completed by Jackson three (3) days prior to his death. Due to his death, Vincent Jackson could not personally testify in this case. The written documents completed by Jackson prior to his death are his only testimony in this case about where he resided.<sup>5</sup> Consequently, Appellant failed to show that these documents' probative value was substantially outweighed by the unfair prejudice she alleged, and the Circuit Court properly admitted these documents.

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